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1               JUDGE YODER:  By the authority vested

2 in me by the Illinois Commerce Commission, I will

3 now call Docket 13-0091.  It's a complaint filed by

4 Michael O. Effiong against Frontier North Inc., the

5 complaint as to billing or charges in Bloomington,

6 Illinois.

7               Can I have the appearances for the

8 record, please?

9               Mr. Effiong, state your name and

10 address for the record, please.

11               MR. EFFIONG:  Michael Effiong, 22 --

12 2422 East Washington Street, Bloomington, Illinois

13 61704.

14               JUDGE YODER:  For Frontier?

15               MR. SAVILLE:  Your Honor, my name is

16 Kevin Saville.  I'm appearing on behalf of Frontier

17 North Inc.  I'm in-house counsel.  My address is

18 2378 Wilshire Boulevard, Mound, Minnesota,

19               JUDGE YODER:  All right.  Is there

20 anyone else wishing to enter their appearance in

21 this docket?

22               Let the record reflect no response.

23               We're here for an evidentiary hearing.

24 The parties have their pre-filed testimony.
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1               Would anyone who is going to testify

2 please stand and raise your right hand.

3               Mrs. Effiong, if you can't, you can

4 just -- raise your other right hand, though, if you

5 can.

6                      (Whereupon all witnesses were duly

7                      sworn by Judge Yoder.)

8               JUDGE YODER:  All right.  Mr. Effiong,

9 since you're pro se, you do not have an attorney,

10 I'll walk you through what are kind of the

11 qualifying questions for your testimony since you

12 have pre-filed, and then Mr. Saville will have the

13 right to cross-examine you on that.  All right?

14               MR. EFFIONG:  Okay.

15               JUDGE YODER:  So you have filed -- you

16 titled it as Rebuttal to Frontier's Answer to your

17 complaint.  We indicated previously we're going to

18 treat that as your direct testimony.  Correct?

19               MR. EFFIONG:  Correct.

20               JUDGE YODER:  All right.  And did you

21 prepare this document that was filed with the

22 Commission?  Was it prepared by you or someone

23 under your direction?

24               MR. EFFIONG:  First prepared by me.
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1               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  And if I asked you

2 each of the questions and everything that's

3 indicated therein, would your answers be the same

4 today?

5               MR. EFFIONG:  Yes, my Lord.

6               JUDGE YODER:  Is there anything you

7 need to correct or change?

8               MR. EFFIONG:  Yes, Your Honor.

9 Nothing's been changed.

10               JUDGE YODER:  All right.  Then I will

11 tender for Mr. Saville then to have any

12 cross-examination questions he has for you on your

13 direct testimony.

14                   MICHAEL EFFIONG,

15 of lawful age, produced, sworn, and examined on

16 behalf of the Complainant, testifies and says:

17                  CROSS-EXAMINATION

18 QUESTIONS BY MR. SAVILLE:

19        Q.       Good afternoon, Mr. Effiong.  My name

20 is Kevin Saville and I am an attorney representing

21 Frontier North in this proceeding.  Do you

22 understand that?

23        A.       Yes.

24        Q.       Okay.  And I believe you indicated in
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1 response to the judge's question your address is

2 2422 East Washington Street?

3        A.       Yes.  East Washington Street, yes.

4        Q.       And is that Suite 104?

5        A.       Suite 104.

6        Q.       Is that a single family home or what

7 kind of building or property is that?

8        A.       Well, I have two accounts, as you all

9 know.  I have 309-661-8000, which is what we used

10 to represent this.

11        Q.       Right.

12        A.       I also have 309-829-2999.  Which is all

13 from the Frontier.

14        Q.       Correct.

15        A.       Yeah.  Because the bills come what is

16 my name because I pay from my same.  But in order

17 to make it distinctive so I had to use two names

18 but still from my own last name.  Michael Pukka and

19 Michael Effiong.

20        Q.       Okay.

21        A.       That's how I do with my cell phone.  My

22 daughter has one and I have one and my wife used to

23 have one.  So it's paid from the same account, but

24 the numbers are different.
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1        Q.       Okay.  So the 2422 East Washington

2 Street, Suite 104, is that your home or is that a

3 business location?

4        A.       Well, it's a business location.

5        Q.       Okay.  So what kind of business is

6 conducted at that location?

7        A.       For the one Suite 104 we intended to

8 operate it as electrical business after we've got

9 the d/b/a from the Illinois state government, which

10 they have not issued us yet.

11        Q.       Okay.  And so is that an office

12 building with other businesses operating at that

13 address?

14        A.       Yes.

15        Q.       Okay.  And that location -- you

16 indicated the telephone number associated with that

17 location is 309-661-8000?

18        A.       Exactly.

19        Q.       And that is in the name of Michael

20 Pukka?

21        A.       Right.

22        Q.       And I know you started to explain this,

23 but what is -- Michael Pukka versus Michael

24 Effiong, what is the connection there?
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1        A.       Well, Pukka is a descriptive name that

2 is an English word and I'm sure you could

3 understand what it means.  It means genuine,

4 authentic, or first class.

5        Q.       Okay.  And is the business that you're

6 planning to operate at that location, the Suite 104

7 location, what is the name of that business?

8        A.       It's Pukka, which is Pukka

9 Electrotechnical.

10        Q.       Okay.

11        A.       But it's a whole long story from the

12 Frontier, see, because the Frontier gave us a

13 business number initially and our effort to

14 establish that business did not go through.  So I

15 initiated another number which should be charged in

16 a domestic context.  In other words, it is not a

17 business charges.  And one of the officers

18 explained to me that is the way to go.  That was

19 why we adopted that.  And it's a whole big story.

20        Q.       Okay.

21        A.       Yeah.  It's a different story.

22        Q.       Okay.  The second telephone number that

23 is in question in this proceeding is the account

24 number 309-829-2999; is that correct?
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1        A.       Exactly.

2        Q.       And the billing address included on the

3 bill for that telephone number is 1204 Seminary

4 Avenue?

5        A.       Yes, because we moved from RT Dunn

6 Drive.  It used to be RT Dunn Drive.

7        Q.       Right.

8        A.       But we moved to 2 -- 1224 Seminary, so

9 they forward that bill to us.

10        Q.       Okay.  And the -- when did you move to

11 the 1204 Seminary Avenue approximately?

12        A.       March 1st.

13        Q.       Of 2013?

14        A.       Yes.

15        Q.       Okay.  And prior to that -- and was

16 that your residence that you -- you and your family

17 lived at?

18        A.       Uh-huh.

19        Q.       And prior to that was your residence at

20 1619 RT Dunn Drive?

21        A.       Correct.

22        Q.       Apartment Number 603?

23        A.       Yeah, sure.

24        Q.       Okay.  And is the telephone number
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1 309-829-2999 still serving the Apartment Number

2 603?

3        A.       Nope.

4        Q.       Is it providing --

5        A.       Not apartment -- not 603 but 1204

6 Seminary where we live now that telephone number

7 has not been located to us yet.

8        Q.       It has not?

9        A.       No.

10        Q.       Have you requested that the telephone

11 number for 1204 -- that that telephone number

12 309-829-2999 be transferred over to 1204 Seminary?

13        A.       No.

14        Q.       And why not?

15        A.       Because we are having this dispute.

16 Since I had requested to drop the services.

17        Q.       Okay.

18        A.       So I intend to have new services if it

19 becomes reasonable and feasible to do so.  That is

20 leaving the services of Frontier.

21        Q.       Okay.  So in terms of the prior

22 address, 1619 RT Dunn Drive, do you have any family

23 or someone at that location?

24        A.       No.
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1        Q.       And did you ask that telephone service

2 from Frontier to that location be disconnected?

3        A.       Yes.

4        Q.       You did?

5        A.       Uh-huh.

6        Q.       Okay.  And I've handed you right before

7 we went on the record today --

8        A.       Yeah.

9        Q.       -- copies of Frontier telephone bills.

10 Do you have those in front of you?

11        A.       I have the original ones which I have

12 and I also had the ones you mailed to us.  Because

13 in our reading through you seem to disagree that

14 some of them were not the original or some of them

15 were different from what you have.

16        Q.       Okay.  I'm referring to what I -- what

17 I handed you, so if you look at the very front --

18 the very first page of what I've handed you today,

19 Mr. Effiong.

20        A.       Uh-huh.  I'm sorry.  I have to use

21 magnifying glass.  The camera from these serve to

22 make it bigger for me.

23        Q.       Okay.  Could I ask you to turn to the

24 first page, the very front?
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1        A.       Uh-huh.

2        Q.       Okay.  Do you see what I'm showing you?

3               JUDGE YODER:  Are you going to want

4 this marked as a cross exhibit?

5               MR. SAVILLE:  Yes, I will.

6               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.

7               MR. SAVILLE:  I just wanted to

8 establish --

9               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.

10               MR. SAVILLE:  -- that he knew what it

11 was.

12               JUDGE YODER:  All right.

13               MR. SAVILLE:  Mr. Effiong, I'm going to

14 ask that this packet of bills, which I will

15 represent represent the most recent bills from

16 July, June, May of this year on the two accounts

17 that are in dispute, are copies of bills that were

18 generated by Frontier that I'd like to ask you some

19 questions about, I'd ask that this be marked as

20 Frontier Cross-Examination Exhibit Number 1.

21               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.

22                      (Frontier Cross Exhibit Number 1

23                      marked for identification.)

24               MR. SAVILLE:  Can I proceed, Your
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1 Honor?

2               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  Mr. Effiong?

3               MR. EFFIONG:  Yes.

4               JUDGE YODER:  Mr. Saville is going to

5 go ahead and ask you a question about this document

6 he's showing you.

7               MR. EFFIONG:  Yes.

8        Q.       So the top document that I've provided

9 you is a copy of the July 13th, 2013, bill that was

10 issued by Frontier to Michael Effiong on the

11 account 309-829-2999.  I'd ask you, Mr. Effiong,

12 have you received this bill from Frontier which was

13 addressed to the 1204 Seminary Avenue address that

14 you indicated was your current residence?

15        A.       I am not too sure because we moved and

16 some of them we did get because I saw the yellow

17 label.

18        Q.       Mr. Effiong, you can take as much time

19 as you need, but looking at the July 13th, 2013

20 bill, the June 13th, 2013 bill, and the May 13th,

21 2013 bill, and if you look at the payments received

22 for each of those months, which is in the very top

23 account summary, they all reflect that there have

24 been no payments received on this account by
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1 Frontier for the period of May, June, July, 2013.

2 Is that correct?

3        A.       That has to be correct because we

4 haven't made payment to Frontier.

5        Q.       Okay.  So you have not made payments on

6 account 309-829-2999?

7        A.       Nope.

8        Q.       Okay.  And do you acknowledge that

9 service is being provided by Frontier?

10        A.       Not quite.  The reason I asked them to

11 disconnect it and what has actually brought us to

12 this sitting here is not necessarily payment as

13 agreed upon.

14        Q.       Okay.

15        A.       Yeah.

16        Q.       Mr. Effiong, do you know the last time

17 that a payment was made on this particular account

18 by you?

19        A.       Well, if I make reference, it should be

20 possibly 2012 or close by.

21        Q.       Okay.  So you would agree that since

22 you initiated this complaint in January 2013 you've

23 made no payments on this account?

24        A.       No.  And the reason was that the
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1 accounts underwent dispute before that time.

2        Q.       Okay.

3        A.       And the reason for the dispute was

4 because we disagreed on what the original contract

5 was, and I tried several times to mediate, to refer

6 to the contract, and Frontier insisted that it was

7 not true.  That's what has brought the whole matter

8 here.

9        Q.       Mr. Effiong, in terms of your dispute,

10 I mean would you agree that there were going to be

11 some charges associated with the service that

12 Frontier was going to provide that you would be

13 responsible for paying, that there was some dollar

14 amount you were expected to pay for the service?

15        A.       Not if it will be referred back to the

16 dispute, what -- at what time the dispute started

17 and when we had the zero balance.

18        Q.       Mr. Effiong, have you undertaken and

19 provided any calculation of what you believe the

20 overcharge amount was by Frontier, how much

21 Frontier overcharged you over the course of the

22 time we've provided service?

23        A.       Yes.  It is very simple mathematics.

24 What the Frontier has got to date, if you subtract
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1 that from where we -- what we agreed on to pay

2 initially, if you subtract that total from what we

3 agreed on to pay initially to a stopping date which

4 we cited to dispute about it.

5               In other words, let me explain.  For

6 instance, you agree to pay $40 per one line for six

7 months.  If you multiply that by six, that will

8 give you the total of what you could have paid.

9 But you also give chance for some taxes, and the

10 taxes obviously will not be twice that amount.  If

11 it is up to that same amount, then something's

12 wrong.  So if you multiply $40 by six and make it

13 for this line and for this line you add it up, that

14 gives you an idea of what I should pay.  But if

15 Frontier says no, we didn't agree for 40, we agreed

16 for 60, so whatever accumulated, that is what I

17 dispute with.  That is what I said if this matter

18 keep lengthening on, lengthening on, that will not

19 be my responsibility.  And I did put it in writing.

20 They did agree that I can opt out.  But I told them

21 I will not be made responsible for those excesses.

22        Q.       And Frontier did tell you in February

23 of this year that you could terminate your service

24 with Frontier and Frontier would no longer provide
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1 the service and no longer bill you for the service;

2 is that correct?

3        A.       Correct.  But I would like to know why

4 didn't they come to that conclusion many months

5 behind?  Because it was the same amount.  It was

6 the same telephone numbers.  It was the same

7 features.

8        Q.       Mr. Effiong, in the packet of materials

9 that I gave you the fourth bill down is in the name

10 of Michael Pukka and it is a bill dated July 13th,

11 2013, on the telephone account 309-661-8000.  Do

12 you see that?

13        A.       She's my eyes.

14        Q.       Okay.  And that bill was mailed to the

15 2422 East Washington Street, Suite 104 address,

16 which is an address that you're using for your

17 business; is that correct?

18        A.       Uh-huh.

19        Q.       Okay.  And there are three bills there,

20 one dated July 13th, 2013, one dated June 13th,

21 2013, and one dated May 13th, 2013.  Do you recall

22 receiving these bills from Frontier for this

23 account?

24        A.       Yes.  We keep receiving those ones.
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1        Q.       Okay.  And if you look at these three

2 bills for July, June, and May of 2013, in the

3 section entitled Payments Received, for all three

4 months the payment received amount is zero.

5        A.       Uh-huh.

6        Q.       Is that correct?

7        A.       That must be correct.

8        Q.       Do you have any recollection of when

9 the last time you paid a charge on this account to

10 Frontier?

11        A.       It must be just the same period,

12 because I usually pay -- when I pay 2999, I pay

13 this other one.

14        Q.       Okay.

15        A.       And the reason why -- and this is very

16 important information.  The two numbers were

17 allocated to us the same time when we sign in with

18 the Frontier and we were given one confirmation

19 number for the two.  So whatever amount we have

20 been paying say the past several months, there were

21 times that they gave us the correct amount and we

22 paid those.  We acknowledged that those were our

23 payments.  But as soon as the payments started

24 fluctuating, I called and I called, and they keep
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1 adjusting, keep adjusting.  "Oh, sorry, it was our

2 error.  Oh, sorry, it was our error."  Too many

3 times, like six times or so that Frontier

4 acknowledges that it was their miscalculation.

5 Then I say, "When will this stop?  Why can't we

6 know that this is what we signed for?"

7               It was not until I spoke to the

8 customer service and three of them said, "They

9 never sign any contract with you."  I said, "What?

10 You never sign any contract with me saying it will

11 be this amount?"

12               In fact, we have the original flyer

13 that was from the Frontier which we have brought

14 today.

15        Q.       Okay.  So just -- just to make sure

16 it's clear for the record, Mr. Effiong, you

17 indicated that you paid the charges on this account

18 at the same time you paid the charges on the other

19 account that we were referring to, the

20 309-829-2999?

21        A.       Uh-huh.

22        Q.       Is that correct?

23        A.       Uh-huh.

24        Q.       And I think your prior testimony was
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1 that the last time you paid on that account was in

2 December of 2012?

3        A.       Of the 2999?

4        Q.       Yes.

5        A.       Well, probably.  Because you know why?

6 At times Frontier have disconnected us and we have

7 to pursue that.  So at a certain period these

8 troubles started and it was no longer going on

9 regularly, but I have record because I used to use

10 bank -- online payment through a bank to make the

11 payments.

12        Q.       Okay.  So with respect to this second

13 account in the name of Michael Pukka, is it correct

14 then to say that the last time you made a payment

15 on this account, 309-661-8000, was in 2012?

16        A.       Well, what I can tell you is I have

17 brought all the bills here.  If we are asked

18 specific things to be very specific, I can go back

19 to look at it one by one.

20        Q.       Okay.

21        A.       Because it's been many months and I can

22 not recall.

23        Q.       Okay.  So looking at the three bills

24 that I've provided you, would you agree that there
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1 have been no payments made in the last three months

2 on this account?

3        A.       Just as I stated, I have not been

4 making payments from the time the dispute has been

5 enforced.

6        Q.       Okay.  And with respect to this

7 telephone account, the 309-661-8000, that is

8 telephone service you are still receiving from

9 Frontier at your business address?

10        A.       The 2999?

11        Q.       No, the 309-661-8000.  That's the one

12 that is --

13        A.       That one is still working.

14        Q.       That is at your business?

15        A.       That one is still working.  And I have

16 records of which they disconnected it and then we

17 called in, they connected us.  That one is still

18 working.

19               MR. SAVILLE:  Okay.  I don't believe I

20 have any further questions.  Thank you, Mr.

21 Effiong.

22               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  I have a couple of

23 clarifying ones.

24
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1                     EXAMINATION

2 QUESTIONS BY JUDGE YODER:

3        Q.       You indicate Michael Pukka, that's you;

4 correct?

5        A.       Yes, yes.

6        Q.       Okay.  And that's spelled P-u-k-k-a?

7        A.       Yes.

8        Q.       Okay.  So the court reporter has that.

9               Where do you live -- live today?  What

10 address?

11        A.       1204 Seminary.

12        Q.       Okay.  So that's your residence at this

13 time?

14        A.       That is our residence.

15        Q.       Okay.  Do you still have a business

16 address at the 2422 East Washington Street?

17        A.       Suite 104, yes.

18        Q.       Suite 104, okay.  And --

19        A.       And I have some clothings there.

20        Q.       Okay.  And you -- I mean phone calls

21 are still being made on these numbers.

22        A.       Yeah.

23        Q.       So you still have access to both these

24 numbers; correct?
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1        A.       Yes.

2        Q.       Okay.  Now, you -- in your testimony

3 that you filed there was a Schedule 4C and D, which

4 were two spreadsheets --

5        A.       Uh-huh.

6        Q.       -- on your testimony.

7        A.       Yes.

8        Q.       Were those prepared by you?  Correct?

9        A.       That -- those were prepared by Patricia

10 Landes.

11        Q.       Who is?

12        A.       From Frontier.

13        Q.       Is that a Frontier --

14        A.       Yeah.

15        Q.       Okay.  And she provided you these in an

16 attempt to show you from approximately April of '11

17 to November of '12 --

18        A.       Uh-huh.

19        Q.       -- your bills, what payments you had

20 made and various credits or adjustments that had

21 been made and then showing the balances going down?

22        A.       Yes.

23        Q.       Is that correct?

24        A.       Yeah.
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1        Q.       Okay.  Do you agree with those numbers

2 on there or disagree with those?

3        A.       No, Your Honor.

4        Q.       Well, not considering what you believe

5 you owed each month, do you agree that the amount

6 she showed as the bills were what the bills you

7 received were?  Not whether they -- you agree with

8 the amount they should have been.

9        A.       Yes, Your Honor.

10        Q.       That the bills were right?

11        A.       Yes.

12        Q.       Okay.  And they showed the payments

13 that you made?  Those are all the payments that you

14 made; correct?

15        A.       Yes, Your Honor.

16        Q.       Okay.  And then I guess kind of the

17 crux of the matter, you filed this complaint and

18 there's a balance due and owing as of today and as

19 of the -- Frontier claims as of like November 13th

20 of 2012.  What is the relief you are claiming?  Are

21 you claiming the balance should be zero?  Is it

22 there's -- you're saying you owe some amount

23 between zero and what Frontier claims, or do you

24 know that?
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1        A.       Yes.  Your Honor, I am perplexed by the

2 whole situation with regard to saying what is

3 truthful and saying their that is not so.  The

4 reason is this:  From that very bill, from that

5 very -- from this -- from this very advertisement,

6 which in good faith we sign up with the Frontier,

7 and we put all effort on my part to see that we

8 agreed on this line, and the Frontier also

9 acknowledges that I'm a good customer and they

10 extended the -- this to another six months, making

11 it one year.  I am surprised that it does not

12 correspond with the total that they will -- that

13 tabulation which you have there.  In my effort to

14 reconcile I was told "No, we never, we never sign

15 anything with you."  That is why I said I need a

16 third person to confirm that we did sign it with

17 them.  Hence, if this is proved to be true, Your

18 Honor, I do not wish to be responsible for all the

19 -- the charges that we accrued outside of what I

20 agreed on and I paid through the dates that my

21 balance was zero.

22        Q.       Okay.  And that was -- when did you

23 start service on both these numbers?  Was that the

24 April 2011 date?
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1        A.       Yes.

2               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  I don't have

3 anything else.

4               Do you have any other questions,

5 Mr. Saville?

6               MR. SAVILLE:  No, I do not.

7               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  Mr. Effiong, you

8 have the opportunity to, oddly enough, ask yourself

9 redirect questions.  So if there's anything you

10 want to clarify that either Mr. Saville is -- from

11 what Mr. Saville has asked you or that I've asked

12 you.  Do you have anything you want to clarify of

13 your testimony right now?

14               MR. EFFIONG:  First of all, I want to

15 thank the integrity, the honesty of addressing this

16 issue.  I certainly would like to know a very

17 simple truth.  Why didn't Frontier acknowledge and

18 assent that we entered into an agreement to pay

19 this amount?

20               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  Well, I need to

21 stop you.  I mean this isn't closing argument or,

22 you know, questions or rhetorical questions for the

23 party.  Is there anything that we asked you that

24 you need to -- you want to clarify or re-question
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1 yourself?  Not go into other issues or ask

2 questions of Mr. Saville or Frontier or whatever.

3 I don't think you understand quite what I'm saying.

4 But of the questions Mr. Saville asked you or the

5 questions I asked you, is there anything you want

6 to clarify?

7               MR. EFFIONG:  Well, it could have been

8 on -- on the matter of our intention to use the

9 8000 for our business, for a business of which we

10 did not go through, Frontier directed me on waiting

11 until things is clear.  And when they gave us a

12 certain number before, when we called, it used to

13 go to -- where is this place where the Mormons --

14 what is --

15               MRS. EFFIONG:  Utah.

16               MR. EFFIONG:  Utah.  And a number

17 whenever registered in those, Frontier said it's

18 going to take a while to go through the

19 distribution boards or something to adjust those

20 numbers.  We finally said it is enough, let us take

21 the domestic process, which is why we got the two

22 lines.  That is the only thing.

23               I really liked Frontier services when

24 we first started, especially when we got this.  So
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1 that is the only clarification.  If there is any

2 question about it, then I would bring in the

3 managers of whom I spoke to and what they told me

4 to do and where we were at that time.

5               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  All right.

6               Sheri Effiong; correct?

7               MRS. EFFIONG:  Yes, Your Honor.

8               JUDGE YODER:  Just for the record, you

9 were previously sworn; is that correct?

10               MRS. EFFIONG:  Yes, Your Honor.

11               JUDGE YODER:  All right.  And you

12 previously filed in this docket what you titled as

13 direct testimony.  At the last hearing we corrected

14 it should actually be your rebuttal testimony in

15 support of Mr. Effiong's complaint.  Yes?

16               MRS. EFFIONG:  Yes, Your Honor.

17               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  And this was

18 prepared by you?

19               MRS. EFFIONG:  Yes, Your Honor.

20               JUDGE YODER:  All right.  And if I were

21 to go through this and ask you each of the

22 questions or the issues presented in this, would

23 your answers be the same?

24               MRS. EFFIONG:  Yes, Your Honor.
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1               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  Is there anything

2 you need to clarify or change at this time?

3               MRS. EFFIONG:  I don't believe so, Your

4 Honor.

5               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  So you wish this

6 to be your rebuttal testimony and you will tender

7 this testimony to be admitted into evidence in this

8 docket and tender you for cross-examination by

9 Mr. Saville before -- but I'm going to go back to

10 one other thing.

11               Mr. Effiong, I presume you would like

12 your direct testimony admitted into evidence in

13 this docket; correct?

14               MR. EFFIONG:  Correct, Your Honor.

15               JUDGE YODER:  Which you previously

16 filed.

17               Is there any objection?

18               MR. SAVILLE:  No, Your Honor.

19               JUDGE YODER:  All right.  Then Mr.

20 Effiong's direct testimony, which was actually

21 captioned as Rebuttal to Frontier's Answer, will be

22 admitted into evidence in this docket.

23               With that clarified, Mrs. Effiong, if

24 Mr. Saville has any questions for you --
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1               MR. SAVILLE:  Your Honor, I do not have

2 any questions for Mrs. Effiong.

3               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  Then with no

4 cross-examination, is there any objection to the

5 admission of her rebuttal testimony?

6               MR. SAVILLE:  No, Your Honor.

7               JUDGE YODER:  All right.  Very well.

8 That will be admitted in evidence in this docket.

9               Any testimony to present on behalf of

10 the company?

11               MR. SAVILLE:  Yes, Your Honor.  I'd

12 like to call Mr. Brett Dickerson to be the Frontier

13 witness.

14               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  Mr. Dickerson,

15 were you previously sworn?

16               MR. DICKERSON:  Yes.

17               JUDGE YODER:  Okay, thank you.

18                   BRETT DICKERSON,

19 of lawful age, produced, sworn, and examined on

20 behalf of Frontier, testifies and says:

21                  DIRECT EXAMINATION

22 QUESTIONS BY MR. SAVILLE:

23        Q.       Mr. Dickerson, I'm just going to ask

24 you a couple of basic questions here.  Could you
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1 please just state your name for the record?

2        A.       Brett Dickerson.

3        Q.       What's your business address?

4        A.       1300 Columbus Sandusky Road North and

5 that's in Marion, Ohio.

6        Q.       And could you explain what your title

7 is and what your responsibilities are with Frontier

8 Communications?

9        A.       I'm the supervisor over the customer

10 advocacy group.  My team handles agency complaints.

11        Q.       Okay.  And, Mr. Dickerson, did you

12 cause to be prepared what has been previously

13 e-filed in this proceeding as the direct testimony

14 of Brett Dickerson and marked as Frontier North

15 Exhibit 1.0?

16        A.       Yes.

17        Q.       And did you also cause to be prepared

18 the exhibits that were accompanying that direct

19 testimony which have been marked as Frontier North

20 Exhibits 1.1 through 1.7?

21        A.       Yes.

22        Q.       And, Mr. Dickerson, if I were to ask

23 you the questions in your direct testimony today,

24 would your answers be the same?
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1        A.       They would.

2        Q.       And with respect to the exhibits that

3 accompanied your testimony, do you have any changes

4 or corrections to those exhibits?

5        A.       I do not.

6               MR. SAVILLE:  Mr. Dickerson's available

7 for cross-examination, Your Honor.

8               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  Mr. Effiong, this

9 is your opportunity to cross-examine Mr. Dickerson

10 based on the testimony that he previously filed.

11 Do you have any questions of him at this time?

12               MR. EFFIONG:  Yes.

13                  CROSS-EXAMINATION

14 QUESTIONS BY MR. EFFIONG:

15        Q.       My question is, did your company, which

16 you're a supervisor, indicated that there is a

17 doubt from your company's part from a customer's

18 claim of having signed $40 for the Internet and $40

19 for phone?  I mean both phone and Internet were to

20 be one price.

21        A.       When you take this -- this promotion,

22 the pricing that you're speaking of is for $40 for

23 the first six months of service, and after that six

24 months it goes to $68.38.  So if you take that and
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1 you figure out the first six months and then the 18

2 months after that at $68.38, that comes to a total

3 of $1830.84.

4               Can we agree upon that total?

5               You were billed -- for the 8000 account

6 you were billed $1900.70 -- I'm sorry, $1970.63.

7 Because of your phone calls and your concerns that

8 the billing was incorrect, we gave a total of

9 $714.21 in credits to your account.  So you have

10 actually been billed $1256.42, which is actually

11 $574.42 less than you would have been billed if we

12 were billing you for that promotion.

13        Q.       I do not seem to agree precisely.  And

14 the reason why is that if you go back, the very

15 first bill that I received from the two lines, one

16 was correct, one was incorrect.  That's the very

17 first bills.

18        A.       I am also showing that because of the

19 error in the first bill of the 66 -- 309-661-8000

20 that a credit of 199.63 was issued to you to

21 correct the billing.

22        Q.       That sounds more reasonable from my

23 standpoint that when there was an error there was a

24 correction.  But where I felt overwhelmed was the
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1 same calling attention to the same error and the

2 matter being corrected again, and yet it is

3 disclosed to me now that those things were fable.

4               In other words, you said you were given

5 a credit of so much amount.  Which to me, I don't

6 think it would have amounted to credit if I were

7 billed according to these contracts and I called

8 several attention that this is how I would

9 understand it.  It will not be to be billed in a

10 different style, which throws me off.  Because I do

11 get bills from AT&T.  I do get bills from other

12 telephone companies.  And it's made simple --

13 simpler.

14               So from the calculation in which we get

15 on hand and my repeated drawing attention to those

16 calculations that I wish it to reflect what the

17 last error and correction shows, I would have been

18 understood and I wouldn't have to be here today.

19 So that is my plea that each time we got a payment

20 brought to zero, I wanted us to start all afresh so

21 that we know this is the foundation where we bill

22 from.

23               But as you can see, Patricia will go

24 back to bring all the credit that was put before
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1 that this is what I was owing.  You can see they

2 said you owe this, you were credited this.  How is

3 it owing if there was an error?

4               For instance, I have a statement in

5 here which shows some features were not given to

6 me, were cut out.  I said, "Why are you still

7 billing me with the same amount with these features

8 when I don't have the call waiting anymore, I don't

9 have the call forwarding, I don't have the caller

10 ID?"  And after about a month or two they would

11 say, well, I called them to restore it, they have

12 to restore it.  Then I will request a credit for

13 that.  When that credit is given to me, it is

14 brought back again after a month or two.  I have --

15 I have proof to show this.  That is what really

16 amazes me.  If I'm a good customer, why am I

17 treated that way?

18               So I would like for you to give me any

19 clue as to why did that continue both with the 8000

20 number and the 999 number?

21        A.       I believe there may have been a

22 communication issue, and I believe our

23 representatives were doing what they thought you

24 had asked of them.  And when they believed that
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1 there was a billing issue or an incorrect amount,

2 they did provide you with credit, which at times

3 was actually more than was warranted.

4               MR. EFFIONG:  I believe and I'm

5 convinced that because of the time involved in this

6 account with the Frontier and what I have

7 personally been committed to doing in trying to

8 reconcile, in trying to have a common ground, I am

9 convinced that I wasn't treated fairly by the

10 Frontier.  And if there is any -- if there is

11 anywhere of saying my effort to look for the truth

12 and the fairness, I would like justice to be done

13 on that basis.

14               JUDGE YODER:  Mr. Effiong, do you have

15 any questions for Mr. Dickerson based on his

16 testimony?  I understand you're kind of restating

17 your case, and you know, how you feel, what you

18 feel should have happened, what may have happened

19 or what didn't happen.  But right now it's for you

20 to ask him questions about his testimony.  So do

21 you have any questions based on what he testified

22 about?

23        Q.       My question would be, because I'm

24 trying to figure out what should draw some
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1 conclusion here, is there anywhere you think I

2 should make our own evidence here and yours

3 reconcile?  How can we bring the two differences

4 together?

5        A.       We have done the calculations that show

6 what you would have been billed if we would have

7 billed you for the promotion that you reference in

8 your exhibit, and that amount is -- I'm sorry --

9 that amount is the $1,830.84.  At this point you

10 have paid $1,256.42.  So the difference in us

11 honoring the contract would put you owing $574.42

12 up through April, not including the May, June, or

13 July statements.

14        Q.       Of which year?  This year or when the

15 dispute started?

16        A.       This includes all 24 months, back to

17 April of 2011.

18        Q.       To my understanding, if after the first

19 six months and things were working fine, I would

20 not have raised any objection, we would have

21 continued and there would have been no interruption

22 in services, I wouldn't back off to paying what I

23 owe.  But to the extent that I constantly called

24 attention that those amount does not reflect what I
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1 owe but it looks like Frontier insisted on billing

2 and billing and you acknowledge that there were

3 some errors, how then would I have to pay Frontier

4 -- owe Frontier legitimately up to this year, up to

5 this -- or, the most present month?

6               Or let me ask this way:  If you believe

7 that you have no error on your approach of

8 something, would you be ready to pay for the

9 statements that is imposed on you?

10               MR. SAVILLE:  I guess I'm going to

11 object.  I'm not sure if there was a question.

12               JUDGE YODER:  I mean if you're asking

13 him a hypothetical would he pay the bill that he

14 says you owe, that's not exactly a proper question.

15 So in that respect, that question will -- that

16 objection will be sustained.

17               MR. EFFIONG:  I am lost here.  What am

18 I being expected to do?  Am I expected to say

19 something or are you expected to answer me the

20 question I asked?

21               JUDGE YODER:  No.  The question you

22 asked was -- there was an objection by Mr. Saville

23 which I sustained.  You basically asked him if he

24 would -- if he was you, would he pay the bill.
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1 Right?

2               MR. EFFIONG:  Yep.  Or would he accept

3 that he owes that bill.

4               JUDGE YODER:  Well, that's not a proper

5 question to ask Mr. Dickerson.

6               MR. EFFIONG:  Okay.

7               JUDGE YODER:  If you have another

8 question, you can ask that.

9               MR. EFFIONG:  All right.  Your Honor, I

10 am stressing my only statement here which with that

11 calculation that this was the price or the bill and

12 this is what I paid, this is what I owed, this is

13 the adjustment, and finally I'm told this is what

14 you owe up to this month, I am wondering whether

15 that is fair.  I think from -- based on -- based on

16 what I understand and what the bills show, we still

17 have a disagreement on the billing.

18               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  Is that all, Mr.

19 Effiong?

20               MR. EFFIONG:  Yes.  Yes, my Lord.

21                     EXAMINATION

22 QUESTIONS BY JUDGE YODER:

23        Q.       I just have a couple questions, Mr.

24 Dickerson.
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1        A.       Yes, sir.

2        Q.       You indicated the first six months of

3 Mr. Effiong's contract it was $40 which included

4 the Internet; is that correct?

5        A.       (Nodded head up and down.)

6        Q.       Now, on your -- I think it's Exhibit

7 1.2 attached to your testimony, it's the

8 spreadsheet for each phone number.

9        A.       Yes, sir.

10        Q.       Under Current Charges does that amount

11 include tax -- I can't remember what they all are,

12 but taxes and 911 surcharges and all that stuff?

13        A.       Correct.

14        Q.       Okay.  Those are all included in those

15 amounts?

16        A.       Yes, they do.

17        Q.       And I assume by the granting of

18 adjustments or credits for those first some months

19 when the bills were -- well, for the second or

20 third -- they were 75.84, 75.84, 75.70, Frontier

21 was accepting that there was some --

22        A.       Yes, sir.

23        Q.       -- error in the billing because the

24 taxes probably were not $35?
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1        A.       Correct.

2        Q.       Is that correct?

3        A.       Yes, sir.

4        Q.       Okay.  And your testimony is -- so that

5 was the six months.  After the six months it would

6 go to $40 for the phone plus 28 something for the

7 Internet?

8        A.       28.38 for the Internet.

9        Q.       Plus the taxes, 911 charges, all

10 whatever other surcharges and fees get put onto the

11 phone bill.  Okay.

12        A.       Yes, sir.

13               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  I don't think I

14 have anything else.

15               Do you want to step outside and see if

16 you have any redirect for Mr. Dickerson?

17               MR. SAVILLE:  I just have a couple of

18 redirect just to clarify, Your Honor.

19               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.

20                 REDIRECT EXAMINATION

21 QUESTIONS BY MR. SAVILLE:

22        Q.       Mr. Dickerson, when you were answering

23 Mr. Effiong's questions, you referred to an amount

24 of 1830.84.  Do you recall those questions?
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1        A.       Yes.

2        Q.       And just so the record is clear, you

3 were referring to what's been filed as your Exhibit

4 1.1?

5        A.       Yes.

6        Q.       And that 1830.84 represents what 24

7 months worth of charges would have been under the

8 promotion that Mr. Effiong was referring to?

9        A.       Correct.

10        Q.       And you indicated at one point that the

11 difference between what he would have been billed

12 under that promotion versus what he was actually

13 billed was 574.42?

14        A.       Yes, correct.

15        Q.       In effect, indicating that Frontier

16 billed him less after the credits than what he

17 would have owed under that promotion?

18        A.       That is correct.

19        Q.       And I believe in your testimony you

20 referred to that as the amount he had paid, and I

21 guess that's what I'm seeking to clarify.

22        A.       I'm sorry.

23        Q.       That really has nothing to do with the

24 amount he paid.  That's --
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1        A.       Correct.  That was an error.

2               MR. SAVILLE:  Okay.  That's my only

3 question.  Thank you.

4               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  Thank you.  Mr.

5 Effiong -- I'm sorry.  Yes, Mrs. Effiong?

6               MRS. EFFIONG:  Could I cross-examine

7 Mr. Dickerson, please?

8               JUDGE YODER:  No, because you're not a

9 party to this.  You are a witness to this.  Because

10 of some difficulty, if you have a question you want

11 to write out and hand to Mr. Effiong, I'll let you

12 ask that.

13               MRS. EFFIONG:  Thank you, Your Honor.

14 I would like to.

15               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  Or you can whisper

16 it to him.

17               MRS. EFFIONG:  He understands if I

18 write it better, Your Honor.

19               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  That's fine.

20                 RECROSS-EXAMINATION

21 QUESTIONS BY MR. EFFIONG:

22        Q.       Okay.  I have this question:  The

23 promotion period was extended for another 12 months

24 in writing -- or, another six months in writing.
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1 Does that figure which you have include the

2 extension of this promotion?

3        A.       That promotion was for the first six

4 months.  There was no extension.

5        Q.       Okay.  We have a letter from the

6 Frontier here --

7        A.       Uh-huh.

8        Q.       -- showing an extension of the

9 promotion that we first had.

10        A.       Is that the letter that was in your

11 rebuttal?

12        Q.       No.  We had put it --

13               MR. SAVILLE:  Could we see the letter?

14        A.       That letter was not for an extension of

15 that promotion.  That letter was sent out to allow

16 customers who were receiving a -- we call a saves

17 credit on your account, that the additional credit

18 was coming to an end and you would not be receiving

19 it past a certain point.

20        Q.       To my understanding, it says -- it

21 refers to the previous promotion and because of

22 being a good customer we have the extension.

23               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  Just to make the

24 record clear, Mr. Effiong, is this the letter that
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1 you indicate was Exhibit 3A to your testimony that

2 was dated June 25th, 2012?

3               MR. EFFIONG:  Yes, Your Honor.

4               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  It indicated that

5 that promotional credit -- you received a

6 promotional -- monthly promotional credit for the

7 balance of 2011.  Correct?  Is that the first

8 sentence in that letter?

9               MR. EFFIONG:  Excuse me a minute.

10               Yes, Your Honor.

11               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  Then the next

12 sentence is "This credit was extended an additional

13 six months to our most valued customers as a way of

14 thanking you for your business and continued

15 loyalty."  Correct?

16               MR. EFFIONG:  Yes, Your Honor.

17               JUDGE YODER:  So it's your position

18 that that credit that you signed up under was

19 extended through June of 2012; is that correct?

20               MR. EFFIONG:  Yes, Your Honor.

21               JUDGE YODER:  Would you find it fair to

22 say that that's the basis for most of your

23 complaint about the billing from Frontier?  Maybe

24 not all of it.



87

1               MR. EFFIONG:  Not all of it.

2               JUDGE YODER:  I don't want to put words

3 in your mouth, but would you say that's one of the

4 problems you have?

5               MR. EFFIONG:  That is one of the

6 problems I have, Your Honor.  I have the bill here,

7 this was among the first bills that showed that we

8 -- you billed us correctly on the 2999, but on this

9 one here it carries a beginning balance of $253.83

10 for the very first --

11               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  Well, I think

12 we've kind of gone through that and we've seen it

13 on both everybody's spreadsheets.  And we're kind

14 of going a little bit off our normal procedure

15 because you are pro se.  You don't have a lawyer

16 representing you.  You're not exceedingly familiar,

17 fair to say, with the procedures in a hearing?

18               MR. EFFIONG:  Yes, Your Honor.

19               JUDGE YODER:  Correct?  You're not born

20 in the United States; is that correct?

21               MR. EFFIONG:  No, my Lord.

22               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  So you're not a

23 native English speaker; is that correct?

24               MR. EFFIONG:  No, my Lord.  I speak
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1 five languages.

2               JUDGE YODER:  That's more than I do.

3 Okay.  And I'm trying to help -- we're trying to --

4 I think everybody is trying to help you out a

5 little bit or accommodate your not being a native

6 English speaker.  So I've let you kind of re-open

7 your cross-examination to ask that question.  So

8 we've got that in.

9               I guess I will -- as my prerogative, I

10 will ask one question.

11                     EXAMINATION

12 QUESTIONS BY JUDGE YODER:

13        Q.       Does Frontier agree that the free

14 Internet, in essence, was extended through June of

15 2012 based on that letter or --

16        A.       No, sir.

17        Q.       Okay.  What do you think that letter

18 represents?

19        A.       There was a credit on his account that

20 was not warranted, and during an audit it was -- it

21 was found that several customers had this credit,

22 and it was a form letter sent to several customers

23 letting them know that we would be removing it.

24        Q.       Okay.  Was that the credit for the free
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1 Internet or was that a different credit?

2        A.       I believe -- I believe it was a $15

3 credit that was on his account.

4        Q.       Okay.  Was Frontier indicating in that

5 letter they were going to, in essence, be trying to

6 claw back that money or were they just ending it

7 right there?

8        A.       We were ending it, yes.

9        Q.       Okay.  So the letter doesn't exactly

10 say what the promotion was.  Is that fair to say?

11        A.       Yes, it is.

12        Q.       I don't want to put words in Frontier's

13 mouth, but I think it -- just a monthly promotional

14 credit was all it indicated; correct?

15        A.       Right.

16               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  Do you have any --

17               MR. SAVILLE:  Your Honor, can I just

18 ask one follow-up question of Mr. Dickerson?

19               JUDGE YODER:  Yes, sure.

20                 REDIRECT EXAMINATION

21 QUESTIONS BY MR. SAVILLE:

22        Q.       Again, Mr. Dickerson, referring back to

23 your Exhibit 1.1 in which you compared the amount

24 that should have been billed versus the amount that
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1 was actually billed after the credits.  Do you see

2 that?

3        A.       Yes, sir.

4        Q.       And on the one account you indicated it

5 was 574.42 and on the other account it was 375.25?

6        A.       Correct.

7        Q.       So even assuming hypothetically that

8 the additional $28 credit should have been extended

9 according to the request of Mr. Effiong, the

10 credits that were actually issued would've exceeded

11 that additional credit he's referring to here on

12 both accounts?

13        A.       Correct.  Because an additional six

14 months of 28.38 would have been less than $180.

15               MR. SAVILLE:  Thank you.

16               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  Is there any

17 objection to the admission -- I assume you're

18 moving Mr. Dickerson's testimony.

19               MR. SAVILLE:  Yes.  I'd move for the

20 admission of Frontier Exhibit 1 and Exhibits 1.1

21 through 1.7 which are the testimony and supporting

22 exhibits of Mr. Dickerson.

23               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  Any objection to

24 the admission of Mr. Dickerson's testimony with the
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1 accompanying exhibits?

2               MR. EFFIONG:  May I ask, my Lord, if

3 this is what I seem to understand, that what

4 Frontier is tendering as their exhibits whether I

5 have accepted it or not?

6               JUDGE YODER:  Whether you've accepted

7 them as true or -- I'm saying do you have any

8 objection to his testimony becoming part of the

9 record in this proceeding like yours and

10 Mrs. Effiong's testimony became part of the record?

11               MR. EFFIONG:  Yes, my Lord, to become a

12 record.  Yes, my Lord.

13               JUDGE YODER:  Well, what's the basis

14 for your objection generally?

15               MR. EFFIONG:  It's the comparison of

16 what they have which they said I should have been

17 billed and to what I saw that I was billed.  So

18 it's like why is his own evidence here does not

19 correspond or cohere.

20               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  Well, your

21 objection is overruled.  I mean that's generally

22 the case when we have a hearing -- a trial that the

23 parties' evidence doesn't agree.  Because,

24 obviously, if you guys did agree, we probably
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1 wouldn't have a trial about what was going on.  So

2 your objection's overruled.  So his testimony is

3 part of the evidentiary record.  Yours and

4 Mrs. Effiong's testimony here is also part of the

5 evidentiary record.  All right?

6               MR. EFFIONG:  Yes, my Lord.

7               JUDGE YODER:  So the evidence is

8 closed.

9               MR. SAVILLE:  Your Honor, could I also

10 move to enter Cross Exhibit Number 1?

11               JUDGE YODER:  Sure.  Do you have any

12 objection to the admission of Cross Exhibit 1,

13 which was copies of your various bills which are --

14 to be fair, I think they're since Mr. Dickerson's

15 testimony; right?  Your testimony is up through

16 April and those are the bills since April?

17               MR. SAVILLE:  For May, June, and July

18 of 2013 on the two accounts.

19               JUDGE YODER:  Right.

20               MR. SAVILLE:  So there's three bills

21 for each account.

22               MR. EFFIONG:  I have no objection, Your

23 Honor.

24               JUDGE YODER:  All right.  Then Cross
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1 Exhibit 1 -- Frontier Cross Exhibit 1 -- Group

2 Cross Exhibit 1 will be admitted into evidence in

3 this docket.  All right?

4                      (Frontier Group Cross Exhibit

5                      Number 1 admitted.)

6              MR. SAVILLE:  Thank you.

7               JUDGE YODER:  So the testimony is

8 closed.  We'll have the record marked heard and

9 taken.  So let's go off the record for just a

10 minute here.

11                      (Discussion off the record.)

12               JUDGE YODER:  The evidence has been

13 concluded and the parties have indicated, with the

14 transcript being filed about August 9th, the

15 parties believe they will be able to file initial

16 briefs by August 30th, 2013, with reply briefs to

17 be filed by September 13th, 2013.

18               Now, Mr. Effiong, do you have any

19 questions about, in essence, what the initial and

20 reply briefs are?

21               MR. EFFIONG:  Yes, Your Honor.

22               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  You have a

23 question or you don't have a question?

24               MR. EFFIONG:  I do have a question.
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1               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.

2               MR. EFFIONG:  Yes, Your Honor.

3               JUDGE YODER:  All right.  Do you want

4 me to go through again what it is or do you want to

5 state your question?

6               MR. EFFIONG:  Just a question, Your

7 Honor.

8               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.

9               MR. EFFIONG:  My question will be:

10 During this time of the procedures, if Frontier

11 says that I am making use of the 2999, although I

12 have called that I was moving and it needs to be

13 disconnected, so I wanted to know if the Frontier

14 is still holding me responsible for the payment

15 that is as brought on record.

16               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  I think I know

17 what you're asking and what I will say is, A,

18 that's out of the purview of this docket.  I would

19 presume if you still have a phone number and are

20 using it, then Frontier is holding you responsible

21 for it.

22               When you file a complaint with the

23 Commission, that basically freezes and stops any

24 collection actions on anything up to that date.  It
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1 doesn't stop any action on anything that happens

2 after the date of your complaint.  So if you've

3 used your phone since then and you've gotten bills,

4 then that's something Frontier can take action on

5 or you need to pay, one or the other.

6               And if you need to cancel a phone

7 number, then you need to talk to Frontier.  And

8 maybe you want to, after I leave, you guys stick

9 around here and talk about that and maybe you can

10 accomplish that forthwith.  All right?

11               But let me go through quickly again, on

12 the initial briefs, which are going to be due

13 August 30th, that's where you lay out your case

14 using your evidence presented.  If you think Mr.

15 Dickerson said anything that was helpful to you in

16 his testimony, you can use that.  You can refer to

17 the transcript also in filing your initial brief.

18               Now, Frontier will do the same thing,

19 lay out how they think their case has been proved

20 or, in essence, your case has not been proved.  And

21 they will file their initial brief.

22               Then after that, by September 13th you

23 will file a reply brief to whatever Frontier has

24 said in their initial brief and they will do the
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1 same to you.  All right?

2               MR. EFFIONG:  Yes, Your Honor.

3               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  So you reference

4 your testimony, Mr. Dickerson's testimony, and the

5 transcript to set up your initial brief.  You can't

6 go outside anything that we've already brought into

7 this docket here.  You can't start going to other

8 documents or any other bills or anything like that

9 because we have to do the case on what's been

10 presented in evidence in this docket.  Okay?

11               MR. EFFIONG:  Yes, Your Honor.

12               JUDGE YODER:  All right?

13               Anything from the company?

14               MR. SAVILLE:  No, Your Honor.

15               JUDGE YODER:  Okay.  Then I will set

16 that schedule.  We've had the record marked heard

17 and taken.  And I will await the filing of the

18 briefs.  Thank you.

19                  (The hearing adjourned at 3:03 p.m.)
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